To the Shareholders of Datatrak International, Inc.:
Datatrak’s current leadership took over in early 2016. Here is a summary of the shareholders’
equity, or book value balance, and book value per share during our tenure:
Shareholders’ Equity/Book Value; Per Share Book Value; and Change in Value
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2016
December 31, 2017
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2019
*June 30, 2020

($4,177,672)
($1,995,781)
$86,761
$504,834
$1,146,319
$1,296,515

($2.76)
($1.13)
$0.04
$0.22
$0.49
$0.54

--59.06%
103.54%
450.00%
122.73%
10.20%

*2020 figures are only for the first half of the year and not the entire 2020-year.
Total Shareholders’ Equity/Book Value Increase of $5,474,187 or $3.27 Per Share
Since the current leadership took over in 2016, Datatrak has been profitable for four consecutive
years. We saw revenues increase for 2019 by approximately 4% from the prior year. During
2019, Datatrak announced a significant new product release for remote medical image capture
and endpoint adjudication processing. We are the first to unify client-driven adjudication
processes for images and documents within EDC as the final step to FDA submission.
Expanding our SaaS platform enabled us to compete in the Imaging clinical trials market, which
is the larger half of clinical research market still not controlled by EDC vendors. True to the
innovative culture of Datatrak, we developed new products that optimize antiquated processes
and eliminated redundancies, which leads to our clients developing treatments faster and at lower
costs. Our new imaging innovations support FDA guidelines while automating DICOM image
data capture, protecting information with anonymized and machine-driven data input directly
into EDC case report files. Meanwhile, our patient direct app will open new doors to exciting
capabilities for virtual trials. In plain English, this is our new smartphone Datatrak App that will
go beyond patient reported outcomes (ePRO) and wearable device assessments (eCOA) to
deploy EDC to the patient bedside. We continue with these themes into 2020 and are working
hard toward furthering our goals going forward.
In last year’s letter, we set the goal of revenue growth for 2019, which we achieved. However,
we will be the first to admit that our goal for 2019 was a higher level of revenue growth and we
fell short of that. Part of the reason was that our new product sales for imaging and our patient
direct app did not hit our revenue figures for 2019 and instead we look to future revenues for
this. Both of these new products further increase the value of our platform as we position for the

greater Business Intelligence and predictive analytics market for clinical research and
development.
Companies that behave well and provide actual value to their people, customers, and society are
the most sustainable over the long-term. People buy from a company because they receive
something of value, a good, or service, which over time, if people realize that what they are
receiving does not exceed in value what they paid for it, they will stop buying from that
company. Datatrak offers what our customers say is an excellent product at a great value/price
compared to the competition. However, our customers and industry leaders now look to us as
innovators working on the next generation of solutions that prevent work force outages from the
next pandemic. We are focused on future technologies that drive top line revenue. We could cut
the bottom line with lower wages, but at what cost? Perhaps, for many public companies,
squeezing short-term gains out of people who you rely on for the long-term (people and
customers) may get you a few quarters of higher stock prices, but yielding to such instant
gratification causes long-term pain. Instant gratification does not build long-term value for
investors nor does it produce products that improve the quality of human life. Instead, when the
global pandemic hit, we listened to our conscience and issued a press release advertising our
product for free to help fight the Covid pandemic.
2020 Annual Shareholder Meeting
We will be holding our Annual Shareholder Meeting in the fall of 2020 in Cleveland, Ohio. We
normally hold our meeting in the spring and were planning on doing so this year as well, but then
the global pandemic happened and we decided to postpone the meeting out of an abundance of
caution. Since it appears likely that social distancing practices will continue for the remainder of
2020, we will be holding a very brief meeting this year in order to complete the formalities of the
meeting. We will save the extended format meeting and our open format Q&A with shareholders
and employees for next year. Meeting details are provided in the accompanying materials.
Respectfully Submitted,

Alex Tabatabai
Alex Tabatabai
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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As of December 31, 2019, the number of shares outstanding of our Common Stock was:
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As of September 30, 2019, the number of shares outstanding of our Common Stock was:
2,352,213
As of December 31, 2018, the number of shares outstanding of our Common Stock was:
2,313,292
Indicate by check mark whether the company is a shell company (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933
and Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act of 1934):
Yes:

No:

Indicate by check mark whether the company’s shell status has changed since the previous reporting period:
Yes:

No:

Indicate by check mark whether a Change in Control1 of the company has occurred over this reporting period:
Yes:

1

No:

“Change in Control” shall mean any events resulting in:

(i) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becoming the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange
Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
outstanding voting securities;
(ii) The consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;
(iii) A change in the composition of the Board occurring within a two (2)-year period, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the directors are directors
immediately prior to such change; or
(iv) The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting
securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of
the surviving entity or its parent) at least fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its
parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation.

1)

Datatrak International, Inc.
Annual Report
December 31, 2019
Name of the Issuer and its Predecessors (if any)

Datatrak International, Inc., hereinafter referred to as “Datatrak” or the “Company,” was incorporated in Ohio on July 17, 1991
and maintains an active status in that state. Datatrak was previously known as Collaborative Clinical Research, Inc. until April 1999.
Has the issuer or any of its predecessors been in bankruptcy, receivership, or any similar proceeding in the past five years?
No:

Yes:

If this issuer or any of its predecessors have been the subject of such proceedings, please provide additional details in the space below:
None.
2)

Security Information

Trading symbol:
Exact title and class of securities outstanding:
CUSIP:
Par or stated value:

DTRK
Common Shares
238134209
no par value

Total shares authorized:
Total shares outstanding:
Number of shares in the Public Float2:
Total number of shareholders of record:

25,000,000
2,358,667
1,287,004
83

as of date: December 31, 2019
as of date: December 31, 2019
as of date: December 31, 2019
as of date: December 31, 2019

All additional class(es) of publicly traded securities (if any):
Trading symbol:
Exact title and class of securities outstanding:
CUSIP:
Par or stated value:
Total shares authorized:
Total shares outstanding:

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

as of date: December 31, 2019
as of date: December 31, 2019

Datatrak International, Inc. Common Shares are not registered with the SEC and, therefore, have a restricted legend affixed to the
front of any share certificates. For non-affiliates, the restriction can be removed once the shares have been held for a period of one
year.
Transfer Agent
Name:
Phone:
Email:

Computershare Investor Services
(800) 622-6757
Melissa.Pierce@computershare.com

Is the Transfer Agent registered under the Exchange Act?3 Yes:

No:

Describe any trading suspension orders issued by the SEC concerning the issuer or its predecessors:
None.
List any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization, merger, acquisition, spin-off, or reorganization either currently anticipated or that
occurred within the past 12 months:
2

“Public Float” shall mean the total number of unrestricted shares not held directly or indirectly by an officer, director, any person who is the beneficial owner of more
than 10 percent of the total shares outstanding (a “control person”), or any affiliates thereof, or any immediate family members of officers, directors and control
persons.

3

To be included in the Pink Current Information tier, the transfer agent must be registered under the Exchange Act.
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Issuance History
A. Changes to the Number of Outstanding Shares

Check this box to indicate there were no changes to the number of outstanding shares within the past two completed fiscal years and
any subsequent periods:
Shares outstanding
as of the second
most recent fiscal
year end:
December 31,
2017

Opening Balance:
Common: 2,272,250
Preferred: none

Date of
Transaction

Transaction
type (e.g.
new issuance,
cancellation,
shares
returned to
treasury)

Number of
Shares
Issued (or
cancelled)

Class of
Securities

Value of
shares
issued
($/per
share) at
Issuance

Were the
shares
issued at
a discount
to market
price at
the time
of
issuance?
(Yes/No)

Individual/
Entity Shares
were issued to
(entities must
have individual
with voting /
investment
control
disclosed).

Reason for share
issuance (e.g. for
cash or debt
conversion) OR
Nature of
Services
Provided

Restricted or
Unrestricted
as of this
filing.

Exemption
or
Registration
Type.

January 2, 2018

New issuance

5,216

Common

$6.20

No

Board of
Directors3

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

January 2, 2018

Issued out of
Treasury

1,157

Common

$5.272

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan4

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

March 9, 2018

New issuance

11,493

Common

$6.60

No

Qualifying
employees
participating in
the 401(k) plan5

401(k) Match

Restricted

Not
registered1

April 2, 2018

New issuance

6,004

Common

$7.30

No

Board of
Directors6

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

April 2, 2018

Issued out of
Treasury

843

Common

$6.212

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan7

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

July 2, 2018

New issuance

6,112

Common

$6.00

No

Board of
Directors8

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

July 2, 2018

Issued out of
Treasury

1,200

Common

$5.102

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan9

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1
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October 1, 2018

New issuance

7,610

Common

$4.25

No

Board of
Directors10

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

October 1, 2018

Issued out of
Treasury

1,407

Common

$3.612

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan11

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

January 2, 2019

Issued out of
Treasury

1,536

Common

$2.552

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan12

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

January 2, 2019

New issuance

10,783

Common

$3.00

No

Board of
Directors13

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

February 22, 2019

New issuance

11,453

Common

$7.90

No

Qualifying
employees
participating in
the 401(k) plan14

401(k) Match

Restricted

Not
registered1

April 1, 2019

New issuance

4,679

Common

$6.91

No

Board of
Directors15

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

April 1, 2019

Issued out of
Treasury

797

Common

$5.872

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan16

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

May 28, 2019

New issuance

3,704

Common

$5.40

No

Michael T.
Morgan

Employment
Agreement

Restricted

Not
registered1

July 1, 2019

New issuance

4,975

Common

$6.50

No

Board of
Directors17

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

July 1, 2019

Issued out of
Treasury

994

Common

$5.532

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan18

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

October 1, 2019

New issuance

5,391

Common

$6.00

No

Board of
Directors19

Director
Compensation

Restricted

Not
registered1

October 1, 2019

Issued out of
Treasury

1,063

Common

$5.102

Yes

Employees
participating in
the Employee
Stock Purchase
Plan20

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan

Restricted

Not
registered1

Shares Outstanding
on Date of This
Report:
December 31,
2019

Ending Balance:
Common: 2,358,667
Preferred: none
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¹ Issued pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”), as provided by Rule 701, Regulation D and/or Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, as applicable.
2

The value of the shares reflects a 15% discount pursuant to the terms of the ESPP.

3

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,298 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,451 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 1,451 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 1,016 shares.
4
Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 370 shares; Julia Henderson 71 shares; Shyla Jones 64 shares; Heather McCoy 42
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 25 shares; Patrick Smith 318 shares; Jared Walker 135 shares; and Suzanne Young 132 shares.
5

Shares were issued as follows: Melody Aguilar 170 shares; Horia Almasan 311 shares; Ryan Benes 154 shares; Josie Burdick 412
shares; Anthony Cribari 334 shares; Scott DeMell 644 shares; Marissa Dorsky 210 shares; Jennifer Duffy 244 shares; Corey Dulin
318 shares; Morgan Durco 297 shares; Lisa Gadberry 432 shares; Aaron Gotreaux 203 shares; Julia Henderson 622 shares; Racquel
Holness 134 shares; Ye Huang 444 shares; Shyla Jones 282 shares; Steven Katonka 210 shares; Patrick Kelly 148 shares; Temitope
Keyes 355 shares; Jill Klein 231 shares; Niki Kutac 515 shares; Haiwen Liu 355 shares; Tim Lyons 766 shares; Heather McCoy 365
shares; Sarah Nainggolan 211 shares; Barbara Norris 319 shares; Aleksandr Rakhmistrovskiy 277 shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 76
shares; Stephen Ryan 228 shares; Arthur Shnayder 284 shares; Patrick Smith 276 shares; Phillip Strunk 258 shares; Laura Stuebbe
275 shares; Kathy Tibaldi 459 shares; Christine Wolford 290 shares; and Suzanne Young 384 shares.
6

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,102 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,232 shares; Alex Tabatabai 1,575 shares; Behnam
Tabatabai 1,232 shares; and Eric Wilhelm 863 shares.
7
Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 269 shares; Julia Henderson 52 shares; Shyla Jones 48 shares; Heather McCoy 31
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 18 shares; Patrick Smith 231 shares; Jared Walker 98 shares; and Suzanne Young 96 shares.
8

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,341 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,500 shares; Alex Tabatabai 721 shares; Behnam
Tabatabai 1,500 shares; and Eric Wilhelm 1,050 shares.
9

Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 382 shares; Julia Henderson 73 shares; Shyla Jones 69 shares; Heather McCoy 44
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 27 shares; Patrick Smith 328 shares; Jared Walker 140 shares; and Suzanne Young 137 shares.
10
Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,894 shares; Rizvan Mirza 2,117 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 2,117 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 1,482 shares.
11

Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 417 shares; Julia Henderson 89 shares; Shyla Jones 83 shares; Heather McCoy 54
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 33 shares; Patrick Smith 397 shares; Jared Walker 169 shares; and Suzanne Young 165 shares.
12

Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 417 shares; Julia Henderson 147 shares; Shyla Jones 138 shares; Heather McCoy 89
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 54 shares; Patrick Smith 417 shares; and Suzanne Young 274 shares.
13

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 2,683 shares; Rizvan Mirza 3,000 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 3,000 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 2,100 shares.
14

Shares were issued as follows: Melody Aguilar 195 shares; John Bancroft 299 shares; Amy Boukair 199 shares; Josie Burdick
371 shares; Anthony Cribari 293 shares; Scott DeMell 550 shares; Marissa Dorsky 183 shares; Jennifer Duffy 226 shares; Morgan
Durco 261 shares; Lisa Gadberry 383 shares; Aaron Gotreaux 273 shares; Julia Henderson 531 shares; James Herold 110 shares;
Racquel Holness 118 shares; Ye Huang 400 shares; Shyla Jones 248 shares; Steven Katonka 183 shares; Jill Klein 214 shares; Niki
Kutac 453 shares; Haiwen Liu 312 shares; Tim Lyons 655 shares; Heather McCoy 322 shares; Nadine Monie 365 shares; Sarah
Nainggolan 185 shares; Barbara Norris 280 shares; Richard Peck 455 shares; Aleksandr Rakhmistrovskiy 252 shares; Ron Ramos 360
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 99 shares; Stephen Ryan 208 shares; Arthur Shnayder 273 shares; Patrick Smith 236 shares; Phillip
Strunk 223 shares; Laura Stuebbe 242 shares; Ning Sun 246 shares; Chris Tetley 264 shares; Kathy Tibaldi 403 shares; Christine
Wolford 255 shares; and Suzanne Young 328 shares.
15

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,164 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,302 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 1,302 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 911 shares.
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16
Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 284 shares; Julia Henderson 55 shares; Shyla Jones 52 shares; Heather McCoy 34
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 20 shares; Patrick Smith 249 shares; and Suzanne Young 103 shares.
17

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,238 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,384 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 1,384 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 969 shares.
18

Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 353 shares; Julia Henderson 68 shares; Shyla Jones 65 shares; Heather McCoy 42
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 25 shares; Patrick Smith 312 shares; and Suzanne Young 129 shares.
19

Shares were issued as follows: Jack Jacobs 1,341 shares; Rizvan Mirza 1,500 shares; Behnam Tabatabai 1,500 shares; and Eric
Wilhelm 1,050 shares.
20

Shares were issued as follows: Scott DeMell 339 shares; Julia Henderson 66 shares; Shyla Jones 60 shares; Heather McCoy 39
shares; Michael Raykhinshteyn 23 shares; Patrick Smith 417 shares; and Suzanne Young 119 shares.
All Common Shares issued by Datatrak International, Inc. contain a restrictive legend since the shares are not registered with the
SEC. Common Shares must be held by non-affiliates for one year for the restrictive legend to be removed. Affiliates remain subject
to the restrictions under Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act as long as they are affiliates of the Company and for 90 days
thereafter.
B. Debt Securities, Including Promissory and Convertible Notes
Check this box if there are no outstanding promissory, convertible notes or debt arrangements:
Date of Note
Issuance

Outstanding
Balance ($)

Principal
Amount at
Issuance ($)

Interest
Accrued
($)

Maturity Date

Conversion Terms (e.g.
pricing mechanism for
determining conversion of
instrument to shares)

February 9,
2018

$0

Up to
$8,000,0001

Please see
footnote.1

February 29,
2020

Please see footnote.1

1

Name of Noteholder
(entities must have
individual with
voting/investment
control disclosed)
Tabatabai Investment
Partners LP1

Reason for
Issuance (e.g.
Loan, Services,
etc.)
Financing

On February 9, 2018, Datatrak entered into a convertible promissory note (“2018 Note”) with Tabatabai Investment Partners LP,
a related party, which is controlled by Mr. Alex Tabatabai. The 2018 Note provided for draws when the Company’s cash balance was
less than a minimum threshold, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors, up to an aggregate maximum amount of $8,000,000.
The 2018 Note carried an interest rate equal to the greater of thirteen percent per annum or the Federal Reserve’s Federal Open Market
Committee Rate plus eleven and a half percent, compounded monthly. The 2018 Note permitted the repayment of draws and interest
then outstanding on the maturity date into a number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock obtained by dividing the amount of
principal and interest by a per share price of $6.70. The maturity date of the 2018 Note was February 29, 2020. Proceeds from the
draws were required to be used to support the growth of the Company in areas such as business and product development, marketing
and customer service, web servers and other related capital expenditures, working capital and general corporate purposes. There were
no draws under the 2018 Note. For additional information, see Note 8. Long-Term Debt. This financing was a private placement
exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)
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Financial Statements
A. The following financial statements were prepared in accordance with:
U.S. GAAP
IFRS
B. The financial statements for this reporting period were prepared by (name of individual)4:
Name:
Title:
Relationship to Issuer:

Julia Henderson
CFO
Chief Financial Officer
(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

4

The financial statements requested pursuant to this item must be prepared in accordance with US GAAP or IFRS by persons with sufficient financial skills.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Board of Directors
Datatrak International, Inc.
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Datatrak International,
Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit),
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

1

Marcum

LLP

n

6685 Beta Drive

n

Mayfield Village, Ohio 44143

n

Phone 440.449.6800

n

Fax 440.646.1615

n

www.marcumllp.com

Opinion
In our opinion, the 2019 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Datatrak International, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2019, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Prior Period Financial Statements
The financial statements of Datatrak International, Inc. and Subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2018,
were audited by Skoda Minotti & Co., whose practice was combined with Marcum LLP as of
December 1, 2019, and whose report, dated March 20, 2019, expressed an unmodified opinion on
those statements.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner
in which it accounts for leases in 2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.

Cleveland, OH
March 24, 2020
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2019

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $15,000 and $15,000,
respectively
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets
Operating right-of-use asset
Operating right-of-use asset
Less accumulated depreciation-operating right-of-use asset
Operating right-of-use asset, net
Property and equipment
Equipment
Software, net of impairment
Leasehold improvements
Property and equipment, gross
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Certificate of deposit
Contract costs, net
Income tax receivable
Deposits
Total other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Notes payable – current
Accrued expenses
Contract liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Contract liability - long-term
Long-term operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Serial Preferred Shares, without par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, none issued
Common Shares/Additional paid in capital, without par value, authorized 25,000,000 shares;
issued 2,379,692 shares as of December 31, 2019 and 2,338,707 as of December 31, 2018;
outstanding 2,358,667 as of December 31, 2019 and 2,313,292 shares as of December 31,
2018
Treasury Shares, 21,025 shares as of December 31, 2019 at cost; 25,415 shares as of December
31, 2018 at cost
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

$
$

3,990,549 $
6,998

2,349,348
8,230

634,571
37,808
227,023
4,896,949

838,389
139,812
236,118
3,571,897

2,129,171
283,711
1,845,460

—
—
—

355,502
5,381,072
55,425
5,791,999
4,436,835
1,355,164

355,502
4,668,170
55,425
5,079,097
3,670,270
1,408,827

165,224
59,410
34,718
16,547
275,899
8,373,472 $

225,235
55,006
—
16,547
296,788
5,277,512

97,016 $
41,351
763,816
2,586,739
3,488,922

85,406
44,476
971,372
3,042,140
4,143,394

—
1,721,824
1,866,407
150,000
3,738,231

1,359
477,925
—
150,000
629,284

—

—

68,876,869

68,944,453

(271,034)
(593,304)
(67,459,516)
(67,846,315)
1,146,319
504,834
$
8,373,472 $
5,277,512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended December 31,
2018

2019
Revenue ....................................................................................

$

7,742,569

$

2017

7,447,356

$

7,524,043

Direct costs ...............................................................................

2,204,821

2,056,219

2,003,136

Gross profit ...............................................................................

5,537,748

5,391,137

5,520,907

Selling, general and administrative expenses............................

5,144,820

5,211,668

5,286,852

Depreciation and amortization ..................................................

19,020

18,744

21,848

Income from operations ............................................................

373,908

160,725

212,207

Interest income ......................................................................

18,140

3,583

3,153

Interest expense .....................................................................

(3,803)

(3,333)

(Loss) gain on marketable securities .....................................

(1,446)

Other income (expense):

600

—
85,009

Income before income taxes .....................................................

386,799

161,575

Income tax (benefit) expense ...................................................

—

—

Net income ..............................................................................

(130,351)

(134,687)

$

386,799

$

161,575

$

219,696

$

0.16

$

0.07

$

0.11

Net income per share:
Net income per share, basic...............................................
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic .....................
Net income per share, diluted ............................................

2,346,372
$

Weighted-average shares outstanding, diluted ..................

0.16
2,378,739

2,299,067
$

0.07
2,334,868

1,947,081
$

0.11
2,000,223

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2019

For the Year Ended December 31,
2018
2017

Operating Activities
Net income ............................................................................... $
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ...............................................
Amortization of operating right-of-use asset..........................
Stock-based compensation .....................................................
Unrealized loss (gain) on marketable securities .....................
401(k) match paid in stock .....................................................
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable ...........................................................
Prepaid expenses and other assets ......................................
Accounts payable and accrued expenses ............................
Long-term operating lease liability ....................................
Interest payable ..................................................................
Contract liability ................................................................
Net cash provided by operating activities ..................................
Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment ........................................
Capitalization of software development costs ............................
Purchase of marketable securities ..............................................
Net cash used in investing activities ..........................................
Financing Activities
Line of credit ..............................................................................
Payments of long-term debt and notes payable ..........................
Purchase of treasury stock..........................................................
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ....................................
Proceeds from ESPP ..................................................................
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities ...................
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ...........................
Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ....
Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of year .............. $

—
(148,719)
—
—
19,510
(129,209)
1,581,190
2,574,583
4,155,773 $

Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures:
Cash paid during the year for interest ............................................ $

3,828 $

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Activities:
Noncash financing
Insurance note payable for prepaid insurance
Payment of debt in shares

386,799 $

161,575

766,565
283,711
144,697
1,230
90,479

681,011
—
156,389
(800)
77,578

634,970
—
239,656
—
72,663

271,104
148,926
(275,946)
(182,764)
120
788,498
2,423,419

(215,884)
251,406
87,767
—
120
(738,847)
460,315

43,390
(11,735)
(228,617)
—
124,868
(936,895)
157,996

—
(712,902)
(118)
(713,020)

(5,705)
(590,525)
—
(596,230)

(35,560)
(494,478)
(9,980)
(540,018)

144,235
—

$

—
(145,099)
—
—
22,531
(122,568)
(258,483)
2,833,066
2,574,583 $
3,411

144,695
—

219,696

750,000
(195,988)
(154,532)
28,742
19,829
448,051
66,029
2,767,037
2,833,066

$

5,598

158,709
1,661,475

Reconciliation of cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents to the consolidated balance sheet at the end of the year:
Cash and cash equivalents
3,990,549
2,349,348
2,528,796
165,224
225,235
304,270
Certificate of deposit
Cash, restricted cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
4,155,773
2,574,583
2,833,066
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common Shares/Additional
Paid in Capital

Balance at
January 1, 2017
Stock-based
compensation
Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
Stock option
exercise ........
401(k) match .
Birch settlement
Conversion of
promissory note
Unrealized loss
Net income ....
Balance at
December 31,
2017 .............
Stock-based
compensation
Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
401(k) match .
Cumulative Effect
Adjustment
Net income ....
Balance at
December 31,
2018 .............
Stock-based
compensation
Employee Stock
Purchase Plan
401(k) match .
Net income ....
Balance at
December 31,
2019 .............

Treasury Shares
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive Accumulated
Loss
Deficit

Stated
Amount

Number
of Shares

1,780,230

$67,216,899

13,487

$ (990,081)

28,215

236,157

—

3,499

—

—

239,656

—

(189,781)

(2,903)

209,610

—

—

19,829

9,980
9,140
—

28,742
72,663
—

—
—
19,438

—
—
(154,532)

—
—
—

—
—
—

28,742
72,663
(154,532)

474,707
—
—

1,661,475
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

—
(2,600)
—

219,696

1,661,475
(2,600)
219,696

2,302,272

$69,026,155

30,022

$ (931,504)

(2,600) $(68,005,290)

$ 86,761

24,942

152,412

—

3,977

—

—

156,389

—
11,493

(311,692)
77,578

(4,607)
—

334,223
—

—
—

—
—

22,531
77,578

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

2,600
—

(2,600)
161,575

—
161,575

2,338,707

$68,944,453

25,415

$ (593,304)

— $(67,846,315)

$ 504,834

29,532

141,253

—

3,444

—

—

144,697

(299,316)
90,479
—

(4,390)

318,826

—

—

—

—

—

386,799

19,510
90,479
386,799

$68,876,869

21,025

$ (271,034)

Number
of Shares

—
11,453
—
2,379,692

Cost

$

$

$

$

— $(68,224,986) $(1,998,168)

— $(67,459,516) $ 1,146,319

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(All numbers in the Notes to the Consolidated Statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand)
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements of Datatrak International, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Datatrak” or the
“Company”) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for
financial information and with the guidelines from OTC Pink Markets for providing adequate current information. The accompanying
financial statements have been prepared by the Company’s management and independent auditors have performed an audit of these
financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for
a fair presentation have been included.
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Revenue Recognition
Datatrak recognizes revenue from contracts with customers under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).” The primary revenue sources for the
Company are subscription fees and professional services. Revenue is recognized as the customer receives the benefit of access to the
Datatrak Enterprise Cloud software suite and as the customer receives the benefit of the professional services performed by the
Company in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those fees and services.
The Company recognizes revenue using the following steps:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Identification of the contract with a customer;
Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
Determination of the transaction price;
Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied.

Datatrak satisfies its performance obligations in two ways: (1) for professional services, at the time when services are rendered to
the customer and the customer receives the benefit of the service and (2) for subscription fees, as the customer uses the Company’s
software over the course of the contract term. Revenue for professional services provided is recognized as the services are performed
while revenue from subscriptions is recognized ratably over the course of the contract term, and adjusted as estimates of a customer’s
measure of progress change over time. Revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated as follows:

Subscription Revenue
Professional Services
Total Revenue

$

2019
5,801,000
1,942,000
7,743,000

For the Year Ended December 31,
2018
$ 5,327,000
2,120,000
7,447,000

2017
$ 5,517,000
2,007,000
7,524,000

Subscription Revenue
Subscription revenue consists of fees charged to provide customers access to one or more of the cloud solutions within the
Datatrak Enterprise Cloud software suite. Customers may use the solutions on a single trial basis or through an enterprise agreement,
which represents a long-term contract covering multiple trials. Revenue is generally recognized over the contract term beginning
when access to the solutions is made available to the customer. Subscription revenue includes fees charged for various services
contained in the license agreements including patients, points, users, randomization, inventory, safety case manager and clinical trial
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management services. The length of a contract can vary widely depending on the type of trial. A contract for a single trial can be as
short as a few months or span multiple years. An enterprise agreement typically covers three to five years.
Professional Services Revenue
Professional services revenue consists of fees for trial design, testing, training, project management, solution center and hosting
services. Revenue for services is recognized as the services are performed.
Services provided by Datatrak that extend beyond the original terms of the contract are billed on a fee for service basis as services
are completed. Costs associated with contract revenue are recognized as incurred. Costs that are paid directly by the Company’s
clients, and for which the Company does not bear the risk of economic loss, are excluded from revenue. The termination of a standard
contract will not typically result in a material adjustment to the revenue or costs previously recognized.
Payment terms vary with each contract but may include an initial payment at the time the contract is executed, with future
payments dependent upon the completion of certain contract phases or targeted milestones. In the event of contract cancellation, the
Company is entitled to payment for all work performed through the point of cancellation. Likewise, in the event of contract
cancellation prior to earning revenue equal to or greater than the initial payment, the Company is generally not required to refund the
unused portion.
Datatrak does not act as an agent, and therefore has no performance obligation to arrange for another party to transfer goods or
services.
The Company warrants to its customers that it will provide access to the software and perform the professional services using
personnel of required skill, experience, and qualifications in a professional and workmanlike manner in accordance with generally
recognized industry standards for similar services and in material compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations applicable
to the Company, including, without limitation, all applicable data privacy and data security laws.
Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations
Most of Datatrak’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. The performance obligations are accounted
for separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a standalone selling
price basis. Both subscription services and professional services are frequently sold individually which provides a basis for
determining their standalone value.
Contract Costs and Liabilities
The contract costs and liability balances are presented on the face of the balance sheet as follows and conform to guidelines
contained in ASU 2014-09.
Contract Costs
Contract Liability

December 31, 2019
$
59,000
(4,309,000)

December 31, 2018
$
55,000
(3,520,000)

The contract cost balance consists of sales commissions. The change in the contract cost balance during the year ended December
31, 2019 was due to sales commissions recorded of $72,000, amortization of sales commissions of ($38,000) and an adjustment for
sales commissions not expected to be paid of ($30,000).
The change in contract liability for the year ended December 31, 2019 is the difference between the revenue recognized out of this
account totaling $4,450,000 and the upfront payments and installment payments received or due from customers totaling ($5,239,000).
Contract liability represents cash advances received in excess of revenue earned on contracts. Contract liability not subject to
potential refund as of December 31, 2019 totaled $4,284,000. The Company’s contract liability balance, including the long-term
portion, was $4,309,000 at December 31, 2019, of which $25,000 was subject to refund, compared to $3,520,000 at December 31,
2018, of which $30,000 was subject to refund. The Company expects to recognize $2,587,000 of revenue currently held in contract
liabilities over the next 12 months. The remaining $1,722,000 is expected to be recognized between January 2021 and October 2024.
Datatrak has not recognized revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018 from a performance obligation satisfied in a
previous period.
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Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately $13,283,000 of estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the
future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied).
Deferred Commissions
Sales commissions earned by Datatrak’s outside sales force are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer. These costs are deferred and amortized as revenue is recognized over the life of the contract. Amortization
of sales commissions is included in selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations.
Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company is subject to credit risk through accounts receivable and cash equivalents. The Company does not require collateral
and its accounts receivable are unsecured. The cash equivalents are placed with high credit-quality financial institutions. The
Company limits the amount of credit exposure in any one institution or type of investment instrument.
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at financial institutions and, at times, balances may exceed federally insured limits. The
Company has never experienced any losses related to these balances. Interest-bearing amounts on deposit in excess of federally
insured limits at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 approximated $3,741,000 and $2,099,000, respectively.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist of high quality corporate stock. With the adoption of ASU 2016-01 as of January 1, 2018, the
Company now recognizes the change in the value of available-for-sale investments in its current period income statement. Based on
the closing trade price, the Company recognized a loss of $1,400 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to a recognized
gain of $600 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Accounts Receivable
The Company generally invoices its customers on a monthly basis with payment terms of net 30 days from invoice date. The
accounts receivable amount is recorded net of an estimated reserve for doubtful accounts. The Company has a history of favorable
collections and had a reserve for uncollectible accounts of $15,000 at both December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. However,
Datatrak did recognize $7,000 of bad debt from one customer during the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company’s average
collection period was 39 days for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 40 days for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
net accounts receivable balance was $635,000 and $838,000 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciable assets consist of office and computer equipment, software and leasehold
improvements. Depreciation and amortization on office and computer equipment and software are computed using the straight-line
method over estimated useful lives of three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over
the lesser of the assets’ estimated useful life or the lease term. Depreciation and amortization expense related to depreciable assets,
including assets recorded under capital leases and software development efforts that have been placed into production, was $767,000,
$681,000 and $635,000 for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The amortization of software development efforts that have been
placed into production were charged to direct costs and total $748,000, $662,000 and $613,000 for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
The increase in depreciation and amortization is driven by forward development that has been placed into service.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 718,
“Stock Compensation,” using the “modified prospective” method. Common Shares and Common Share options awarded to nonemployee Directors are fully vested and compensation costs are completely expensed on the grant date. Share-based incentive awards
granted to employees vest over the assigned vesting period and related compensation costs are amortized ratably over the vesting
period. Stock compensation expense was $145,000, $156,000, and $240,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
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respectively. The Company’s unamortized compensation cost, related to non-vested restricted Common Shares, at December 31, 2019
was $8,000, which is expected to be fully recognized in 2020. There was no unamortized compensation cost, related to non-vested
stock options and restricted Common Shares, at December 31, 2018. Unamortized cost at December 31, 2017 was $7,000.
Leases
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases.” ASU 2016-02 requires companies to recognize right-of-use (“ROU”)
assets and lease liabilities for operating leases on the balance sheet in order to increase transparency and comparability among
organizations. Datatrak adopted ASU 2016-02 as of January 1, 2019 and elected the first practical expedient. The first practical
expedient under ASU 2016-02 allows an entity to accept the original determination of whether a contract contained a lease and the
original lease classification. Additionally, it does not require the Company to reassess the initial direct costs. Based on this election,
the office leases for Cleveland, College Station and Chicago are classified as operating leases. The copier lease, which was classified
as a capital lease prior to the adoption of the standard, is classified as a finance lease.
A lease is determined at the inception of the arrangement. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, accrued
expenses and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. Finance leases are included in property and equipment,
notes payable and long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet. ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the
lease term and lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments for the use of such assets under the lease term.
Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of the
lease payments over the lease term. If the interest rate implicit in the lease is able to be determined, it will be used in calculating the
present value of the lease payments. If the interest rate implicit in the lease in not able to be determined, the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of the lease
payments. The lease term may include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that
option. The expense for operating lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Income Taxes
The Company follows FASB ASC 740. This accounting standard requires that the liability method be used in accounting for
income taxes. Under this accounting method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that apply in
the periods in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be realized or settled. A valuation allowance is provided for
deferred tax assets for which realization currently is not more likely than not. Quarterly income taxes are recorded at the effective rate,
based on annual forecasted income. The Company currently is in an overall cumulative loss position totaling approximately $36
million. As a result, the Company recorded a full valuation reserve against its net deferred tax assets in 2009 and the full valuation
reserve remained on the books through December 31, 2019.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) was signed into law on December 22, 2017. The law included significant changes
to the U.S. corporate income tax system, including a Federal corporate rate reduction from 35% to 21%, limitations on the
deductibility of interest expense and executive compensation, and the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax
system to a territorial tax system. The impact of the TCJA on Datatrak was a one-time reduction in the Company’s net deferred tax
assets, principally its U.S. net operating loss carryforwards, of $5.4 million. This reduction was fully offset by a corresponding
reduction of the valuation allowance of $5.4 million. TCJA also ended the corporate Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) regime and
made existing AMT credits refundable beginning in 2018. Therefore, Datatrak’s AMT credit carryovers of $139,000 were reclassified
as other receivable and the corresponding valuation allowance was removed. As of December 31, 2019, half of the AMT credit
carryover has been refunded to Datatrak and the other half remains in other receivable, split between current and long-term. All of
these adjustments were reflected on the financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
In accordance with FASB ASC 740-10, the Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more
likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50%
likelihood of being recognized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment
occurs. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company had no uncertain income tax positions.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that might affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued expenses are reasonable estimates of fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments.
Direct Costs
Direct costs consist of personnel costs for those employees who directly support the Company’s contracts, ISP costs, charges
being passed through to customers and amortization related to software development efforts that have been placed into production.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Advertising costs were
$142,000, $147,000 and $120,000 for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Software Development Costs
Development costs incurred in the research and development of new software products, enhancements to existing software
products and maintenance activities are accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 350-40, “Accounting for Cost of Internal-Use
Software, Including Enterprise Software.” Post-implementation stage activities such as maintenance or modifications that do not
result in additional functionality are expensed as incurred. Enhancements to the software, which enable the software to perform tasks
that it was previously incapable of performing, are to be capitalized based on the assigned fair value. If the project contains both
elements of upgrades that provide additional functionality and maintenance, cost is allocated based on relative fair values. If the cost
cannot be allocated between maintenance and upgrades on a reasonable basis, all cost is expensed as incurred.
The Company capitalized software development costs that provided additional functionality of $713,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2019 compared to $591,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018 and $494,000 for the year ended December 31,
2017.
Research and development expenses included in SG&A were $1,040,000, $1,169,000 and $1,292,000 in 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 24, 2020, the date these consolidated financial statements were
available to be issued and determined that there were no significant subsequent events requiring recognition or disclosure.
Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements
In connection with the preparation of its consolidated financial statements, the Company identified an immaterial error related to
the recorded cost of issuances from treasury shares in prior periods. In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletins SAB Topic
1.M, “Assessing Materiality” and SAB Topic 1.N “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements,” the Company evaluated the error, considering both quantitative and qualitative
factors, and determined (i) that the related impact was immaterial to its financial statements for any prior annual or interim period, (ii)
leaving it uncorrected, however, would misstate the current period, and (iii) that correcting the impact of the error in the respective
annual or interim periods would be helpful to understanding the Company’s results of operations for the year ended December 31,
2019. Accordingly, the Company has revised previously reported financial information for such immaterial error. A summary of
revisions to certain previously reported financial information presented herein for comparative purposes is included in Note 14.
Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements.
Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. In past filings, depreciation and
amortization was shown as a separate line item in total. In the current year presentation, the amortization related to software
development efforts that have been placed into production were included in direct costs, while the remainder was shown below
selling, general and administrative expenses.

19

Datatrak International, Inc.
Annual Report
December 31, 2019
2. Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
The adoption of ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” had a material impact to the Company’s consolidated balance sheet; however, it did not
impact the income statement. The impact to the balance sheet was recognition of ROU assets and lease liabilities for the operating
leases. Accounting for the finance lease had no impact to any of the financial statements. Originally, ASU 2016-02 required entities
to adopt the standard using a modified retrospective method. The FASB subsequently issued ASU 2018-10, “Codification
Improvements to Topic 842, Leases,” and ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements.” The Company adopted both
of these as of January 1, 2019. ASU 2018-11 provided an optional transition method that allowed entities to apply ASU 2016-02 at
the adoption date and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Datatrak elected this
optional transition method and has not restated prior year statements. ROU assets and lease liabilities of $2,129,000 were recognized
upon adoption of ASU 2019-02.
The impact of the initial adoption of ASU 2016-02 is shown below:
Right-of-Use Asset
College Station Office*
Cleveland Office
Chicago Office

$ 171,000
529,000
1,429,000
$2,129,000

Short-Term
Liability**
$ (45,000)
(135,000)
100,000
$ (80,000)

Long-Term Liability
$ (126,000)
(394,000)
(1,529,000)
$ (2,049,000)

*The lease extension agreement for the College Station office was signed on July 1, 2019. The Company revised the ROU and longterm liability amounts for the College Station lease based on the actual rent included in the extension agreement, which increased both
by $5,000.
** Portion of initial ASU 2016-02 adoption entry recorded within accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet.
In June 2018, FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718) Improvements to Nonemployee
Share-Based Payment Accounting.” ASU 2018-07 superseded most of the prior accounting guidance on nonemployee share-based
payments, and aligned the guidance with existing guidance on employee share-based payments in Topic 718. The key amendments in
this update are as follows: nonemployee share-based payment transactions are measured by estimating the fair value of equity
instruments that an entity is obligated to issue; the measurement date is required to be consistent with the measurement date for
employee share-based payment awards; consider the probability on nonemployee awards with performance conditions; classification
is subject to the requirements of Topic 718; and the cost recognition of nonemployee awards is unchanged. The only nonemployee
share-based payment awards that Datatrak makes is to its Board of Directors as director compensation. Since the shares issued to the
Board of Directors have historically been accounted for in a manner compliant with Topic 718 and the provisions of ASU 2018-07,
there was no impact to the financial statements of the Company when it was adopted on January 1, 2019.
In July 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-07, “Codification Updates to SEC Sections-Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to
SEC Final Rule Releases No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification, and Nos. 33-10231 and 33-10442, Investment
Company Reporting Modernization, and Miscellaneous Updates.” The FASB has updated the SEC portion of its codification
literature to reflect changes the regulator made to simplify disclosures, modernize the reporting and disclosure of information by
registered investment companies, and other items. ASU 2019-07 is effective immediately and did not have any impact on the
financial statements of the Company.
3. Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In April 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-04, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, Topic
815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU 2019-04 contains narrow improvements and
clarifications to scope, recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure guidance issued in ASU 2016-01, “Financial
Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,” ASU 2016-13,
“Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” and ASU 2017-12,
“Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities.” The only portion of the
update that is applicable to Datatrak is ASU 2016-13, concerning current expected credit loss methodology as it relates to trade
receivable balances. The adoption of ASU 2019-04 is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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In May 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-05, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief.” The
amendments in ASU 2019-05 provide entities an alternative to irrevocably elect the fair value option for eligible financial assets
measured at amortized cost upon adoption of ASU 2016-13. For an asset to be eligible it must be within the scope of the new credit
losses standard and be eligible for applying the fair value option in ASC 825-10. It can be applied on an instrument-by instrument
basis but it not an option for available-for-sale or held-to-maturity debt securities. ASU 2019-05 is effective concurrently with ASU
2016-13 for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The adoption of ASU 2019-05 is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s financial statements.
In November 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-08, “Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718) and Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (Topic 606).” ASU 2019-08 provides guidance on the measurement of awards in connection with share-based
payments in conjunction with selling goods or services to customers as part of a revenue contract. These share-based payments are to
be measured in accordance with ASC 718. Therefore, the grant-date fair value of the share-based payment award will be the basis for
the reduction in revenue. The classification and subsequent measurement of share-based payments granted in conjunction with selling
goods or services to customers as part of a revenue contract are subject to existing guidance in ASC 718. Datatrak adopted ASU
2018-07 as of January 1, 2019, therefore, the amendments in ASU2019-08 are effective in the fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2019, including interim periods therein. Since there was no impact to the Company’s financial statements when the Company
adopted ASU 2018-07, it does not expect an impact upon adoption of ASU 2019-08.
In November 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-10, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging
(Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates.” ASU 2019-10 finalizes effective date delays for private companies, not-forprofit organizations, and certain smaller reporting companies applying the credit losses, leases and hedging standards. The hedging
standard is not applicable to Datatrak, and the lease standard was adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2019. The effective date
for the credit loss standard, ASU 2016-13, for all Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filers, excluding smaller reporting
companies as defined by the SEC, remains as fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The new effective date for all other
entities is fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. This change extends the effective date for smaller reporting companies by
two years and for private companies and other non-SEC filers by one year. Pursuant to ASU 2019-10, Datatrak may delay the
adoption of ASU 2016-13.
In December 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” ASU 2019-12 enhances and
simplifies various aspects of the income tax guidance in ASC 740, including requirements related to the following:
 Hybrid tax regimes.
 The tax basis step-up in goodwill obtained in a transaction that is not a business combination.
 Separate financial statements of entities not subject to tax.
 The intra-period tax allocation exception to incremental approach.
 Ownership changes in investments – changes from a subsidiary to an equity method investment (and vice-versa).
 Interim period accounting for enacted changes in tax law.
 The year-to-date loss limitation in interim period tax accounting.
The amendments in ASU 2019-12 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020,
including interim periods therein. Early adoption of the standard is permitted, including adoption in interim or annual periods for
which financial statements have not yet been issued. For all other entities, the guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021, and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption for these entities is also permitted,
including adoption in interim or annual periods for which financial statements have not yet been made available for issuance. If an
entity early adopts these amendments in an interim period, it should reflect any adjustments as of the beginning of the annual period
that includes that interim period. In addition, an entity that elects to early adopt the standard is required to adopt all of the amendments
in the same period (i.e., an entity cannot select which amendments to early adopt). The adoption of ASU 2019-12 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
4. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
Payroll and other employee costs....................................................................................
Professional fees .............................................................................................................
Other ...............................................................................................................................
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$

$

415,000
315,000
34,000
764,000

December 31,
2018

$

$

414,000
534,000
23,000
971,000
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5. Income Taxes
Due to its net operating loss carryforwards, the Company had no federal, state or local income tax expense in 2019, 2018 and
2017. However, due to AMT limitations on the use of net operating loss carryforwards, Datatrak recorded $135,000 of federal income
tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017.
A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:
2019

Income tax expense at the United States statutory rate ..................
Change in valuation allowance ......................................................
Effect of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) .......................................
U.S. net operating loss adjustment .................................................
Depreciation and amortization .......................................................
Non-deductible permanent differences ..........................................
Income tax expense (benefit) at the effective income tax rate .......

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2018

81,000 $
(898,000)
—
774,000
40,000
3,000
— $

2017

34,000 $
28,000
(35,000)
(5,354,000)
—
5,187,000
(1,000)
—
—
—
2,000
4,000
— $ (135,000)

Due to uncertainty regarding the realization of the deferred tax asset resulting from its cumulative operating losses through 2019,
the Company provided for a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
At December 31, 2019, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward of approximately $35,633,000 for U.S. income tax
purposes. An equity transaction completed on January 7, 2002 has limited the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards incurred
prior to that date, to a maximum amount of approximately $1,000,000 per year, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Future utilization of the net operating losses could be further limited due to Section 382 limitations. The Company’s United States net
operating loss carryforwards began expiring in the year 2018 and will be fully expired in the year 2035.
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets, stated in U.S. dollars, are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
U.S. net operating loss carryforwards .....................................................................
Foreign tax credit ....................................................................................................
Allowances and accruals .........................................................................................
Restricted stock .......................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization ................................................................................
Valuation allowance ...............................................................................................
Gross deferred tax assets recorded ..........................................................................
Net deferred tax asset recorded ...............................................................................

2019

$

$

December 31,

7,483,000 $
72,000
28,000
78,000
9,000
7,670,000
(7,670,000)
—
-0- $

2018

8,291,000
72,000
73,000
87,000
46,000
8,569,000
(8,569,000)
—
-0-

At December 31, 2019, a valuation allowance of approximately $7,670,000 remains against Datatrak’s deferred tax assets, which
consist primarily of net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. income taxes. Of the $7,670,000 total allowance, approximately
$7,483,000 is recorded against the portion of Datatrak’s deferred tax assets that represent net operating loss carryforwards for U.S.
income taxes. The remaining $187,000 valuation allowance is provided for other non-current deferred tax assets.
As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, the Company had no uncertain income tax positions.
The tax years 2016 through 2019 remain subject to U.S. tax examination.
(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)

22

Datatrak International, Inc.
Annual Report
December 31, 2019
6. Net Income per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Net income used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss
per share ..................................................................................

$

2018

387,000

$

2017

162,000

$

220,000

Denominator for basic net income per share — weightedaverage common shares outstanding.......................................

2,346,000

2,299,000

1,947,000

Effect of dilutive common share options ..................................

33,000

36,000

53,000

Denominator for diluted net income per share ..........................

2,379,000

2,335,000

2,000,000

Basic net income per share .......................................................

$

0.16 $

0.07 $

0.11

Diluted net income per share ....................................................

$

0.16 $

0.07 $

0.11

Weighted-average common share options excluded from the
computation of diluted net income per share because they
would have an anti-dilutive effect on net income per share ....

25,000

24,000

13,000

7. Leases
Datatrak has operating leases for office space in College Station, Cleveland and Chicago and a finance lease for certain office
equipment. The leases have remaining terms of 4 months to 7 years. The College Station lease had an option to extend the lease for 3
years. An amendment to the lease was signed on July 1, 2019 extending the lease through January 2023.
The components of the lease expense were as follows:
For the Year Ended
Operating lease cost ........................................................................................................
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use asset ...............................................................................
Interest on lease liabilities ...........................................................................................
Total finance lease cost ...............................................................................................
Variable rent cost ............................................................................................................
Month-to-month rental cost ............................................................................................
Sublease income .............................................................................................................
Total operating and finance lease cost.........................................................................

Dec. 31, 2019

$

475,000

$

4,000
300
4,300
308,000
18,000
(506,000)
299,300

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:
Operating Leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net...........................................................................
Accrued expenses ...........................................................................................................
Long-term lease liabilities...............................................................................................
Total operating lease liabilities....................................................................................
Finance Leases
Property and equipment, gross ........................................................................................
Accumulated depreciation ..............................................................................................
Property and equipment, net ........................................................................................
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$ 1,845,000
$

353,000
1,866,000
$ 2,219,000

$
$

20,000
(19,000)
1,000
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Notes payable ..................................................................................................................
Long-term debt ...............................................................................................................
Total finance lease liabilities .......................................................................................

$

1,400
—
1,400

$

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
Dec. 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases ................................................................
Operating cash flows from finance leases ...................................................................
Financing cash flows from finance leases ...................................................................

$

(508,000)
(5,000)
—

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Operating leases - years...............................................................................................
Finance leases - years ..................................................................................................

6
—

Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating leases ..........................................................................................................
Finance leases..............................................................................................................

8%
7%

The Company leases certain office equipment and space, some of which are under month-to-month agreements. Net rent expense
relating to the operating leases was approximately $292,000, $295,000 and $206,000 in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Future
minimum lease payments for the Company under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:
Amount*
Year Ending December 31,
2020 ................................................................................................................ $ 518,000
527,000
2021 ................................................................................................................
537,000
2022 ................................................................................................................
384,000
2023 ................................................................................................................
349,000
2024 ................................................................................................................
447,000
Remainder ......................................................................................................
Net minimum lease payments ........................................................................ $ 2,762,000
Less: interest...................................................................................................
543,000
Present value of operating lease liabilities ..................................................... 2,219,000
* Datatrak remains responsible for the master lease for the Chicago office space. The master lease contains material monthly
variable rent costs of $19,300, which are not included in the future minimum lease payments above.
On July 7, 2016, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with OERM Software, Inc., now known as Sphera Solutions,
Inc., for the Chicago, IL office space (“Chicago sublease”). The Chicago sublease covers the remaining term of the original lease.
Future minimum lease payments expected to be received under the Chicago sublease agreement are as follows:
Amount
Year Ending December 31,
2020 ............................................................................................................... $ 469,000
2021 ...............................................................................................................
477,000
2022 ...............................................................................................................
484,000
2023 ...............................................................................................................
491,000
2024 ...............................................................................................................
498,000
632,000
Remainder ......................................................................................................
Total ............................................................................................................... $ 3,051,000
Effective August 26, 2019, Datatrak signed a Consent to Sub-Sublease, which allowed Sphera Solutions, Inc. to sublease the
Chicago office space to BKD, LLP. The consent to sub-sublease changed none of the terms of the Company’s agreement with Sphera
Solutions, Inc. and has no financial impact on Datatrak.
(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)
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8. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 is summarized below:
De Lage Landen note payable
Insurance note payable
Total debt
Less current maturities
Long-term debt

$

$

2018
2019
1,000 $
6,000
40,000
40,000
41,000
46,000
(45,000)
(41,000)
— $
1,000

The Company entered into a financing agreement with De Lage Landen Financial Services for the purchase of certain office
equipment. The note bears interest at 6.7% and is due in monthly installments of $396, including accrued interest, beginning in May
2015 and ending in May 2020.
The Company entered into a financing agreement with AFCO for payment of a portion of the Company’s 2018-2019 annual
insurance premiums. The note bore interest at 3.85% and was due in monthly installments of $13,409, including accrued interest,
beginning in May 2018 and ending in March 2019. All amounts are fully paid as of December 31, 2019.
The Company entered into a financing agreement with AFCO for payment of a portion of the Company’s 2019-2020 annual
insurance premiums. The note bears interest at 4.99% and is due in monthly installments of $13,442, including accrued interest,
beginning in May 2019 and ending in March 2020.
In order to address any working capital needs the Company may have faced during 2016, on April 8, 2016, Datatrak entered into a
convertible promissory note (the “Note”) with Tabatabai Investment Partners LP, a related party, which is controlled by Mr. Alex
Tabatabai, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. On August 5, 2016, the parties entered into an amendment to the
Note, which changed the maximum principal amount from $750,000 to $1,500,000 in the aggregate. On May 8, 2017, the Company
entered into the second amendment to the Note, which changed the maturity date from June 30, 2017 to September 6, 2017. The Note
provided for monthly draws on the first day of each month through March 31, 2017 when the cash balance of the Company was less
than a minimum threshold amount or upon request by the Company. The maximum monthly draw was limited to the difference
between the minimum threshold amount and the Company’s cash balance, or a draw by the Company of up to $750,000, up to an
aggregate of $1,500,000 during the term of the Note. The Note carried an interest rate of twelve percent on outstanding draws and
matured on September 6, 2017. At any time prior to or on the maturity date, Tabatabai Investment Partners LP had the option to
convert all or any portion of the principal balance and accrued but unpaid interest then outstanding under the Note into shares of the
Company’s Common Stock, calculated by dividing the amount being converted by $3.50. As of the maturity date, the Note permitted
the repayment of draws and interest to be in the Company’s Common Stock at market prices, calculating the number of shares of the
Company’s Common Stock to be issued by dividing the amount being converted by $3.50. Neither Tabatabai Investment Partners LP
nor the Company could exercise its option to convert the Note into shares of the Company’s Common Shares to the extent that such
conversion would cause Tabatabai Investment Partners LP to become an acquiring person under the Company’s shareholder rights
agreement, which expired at the close of business on September 5, 2017. The Note included customary default, change of control and
acceleration provisions. The Company made draws under this agreement in August 2016 and January 2017 for $750,000 each or
$1,500,000 in the aggregate. On the maturity date, the Company and Tabatabai Investment Partners LP signed a notice of conversion
election related to the Note. Pursuant to the Note, all of the outstanding principal and interest were converted into 474,707 restricted
Common Shares of the Company and issued to Tabatabai Investment Partners LP.
On February 9, 2018, Datatrak entered into a convertible promissory note (the “2018 Note”) with Tabatabai Investment Partners
LP, a related party, which is controlled by Mr. Alex Tabatabai, Chairman of Datatrak’s Board of Directors. The 2018 Note provided
for draws when the Company’s cash balance was less than a minimum threshold, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors, up to
an aggregate maximum amount of $8,000,000. The 2018 Note carried an interest rate equal to the greater of thirteen percent per
annum or the Federal Reserve’s FOMC Rate plus eleven and a half percent, compounded monthly. The 2018 Note permitted the
repayment of draws and interest then outstanding on the maturity date into a number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock
obtained by dividing the amount of principal and interest by a per share price of $6.70. The maturity date of the 2018 Note was
February 29, 2020. Proceeds from the draws were required to be used to support the growth of the Company in areas such as business
and product development, marketing and customer service, web servers and other related capital expenditures, working capital and
general corporate purposes. There were no draws under the 2018 Note.
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9. Shareholders’ Equity
On May 14, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 2013 Omnibus Equity Plan (“2013 Omnibus Plan”), thereby
replacing the 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan (“2011 Omnibus Plan”) as the primary share-based incentive award program for covered
employees and directors. The 2011 Omnibus Plan was the primary share-based incentive award program from its approval on August
10, 2011 until the approval of the 2013 Omnibus Plan. Prior to the 2011 Omnibus Plan, the 2009 Omnibus Equity Plan (the “2009
Omnibus Plan”) was the Company’s primary share-based incentive award program for covered employees and directors from its
approval on August 26, 2009 until the approval of the 2011 Omnibus Plan. Common Share options have been awarded under the
2013 Omnibus Plan, the 2011 Omnibus Plan and the 2009 Omnibus Plan. The Company used the Black-Scholes option valuation
model to calculate the fair value of stock options granted.
At December 31, 2019, the Company had reserved 358,988 Common Shares for the exercise of Common Share options under the
2013 Omnibus plan and previously established share option plans. Of the 358,988 reserved shares, 318,993 shares are reserved for
future grants under the Company’s previously established share option plans and 39,995 are reserved for the exercise of outstanding
stock options pursuant to the established share option plans. Since the 2013 Omnibus Plan is intended to serve as the primary equity
incentive compensation plan for the Company, the 253,743 Common Share options that could have been granted pursuant to the
Company’s previously established share option plans are not expected to be granted. All recent equity awards were granted outside of
the 2013 Omnibus Plan.
Cost of shares acquired is accounted for on a first-in-first-out basis. When treasury shares are issued at a price below their
recorded cost, the difference between their fair value and the recorded cost is input as an increase or decrease to additional paid-in
capital.
10. Retirement Savings Plan
The Company sponsors The Datatrak International, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan (the “Plan”) as defined by Section 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The Plan covers substantially all United States employees who elect to participate.
Participants may contribute their annual compensation into a variety of mutual fund options. Matching and profit sharing contributions
by the Company are discretionary. The Company made a discretionary contribution in 2019, 2018 and 2017 to each eligible
employee’s 401(k) account in restricted Common Shares of Datatrak’s stock with a value equal to 3% of eligible employee’s salaries,
not to exceed the amount contributed by the employee. The total number of restricted shares granted in connection with such match
was 11,453, 11,493, and 9,140, respectively, for discretionary contributions awarded in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, respectively. During 2019, the Company accrued a 2% match, not to exceed the amount contributed by the employee, for all
active participants in the plan who qualify for the match. The 2019 match will be payable in authorized, outstanding, but previously
unissued shares, to the employee’s 401(k) account in the first quarter of 2020 upon the Board of Directors’ approval.
11. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
Selected quarterly data is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

First
Quarter

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Second
Third
Fourth
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter

Revenue ................................................................................................ $ 1,922 $
1,385
Gross profit ...........................................................................................
Income from operations ........................................................................
165
Net income ..........................................................................................
167
Basic net income per share ...................................................................
0.07
Diluted net income per share ................................................................
0.07

1,884 $ 2,028 $ 1,909
1,313
1,447
1,393
28
79
102
30
82
108
0.01
0.03
0.05
0.01
0.03
0.05

(Remainder of This Page Intentionally Left Blank)
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First
Quarter

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Second
Third
Fourth
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter

Revenue ................................................................................................ $ 1,754 $
1,262
Gross profit ...........................................................................................
(Loss) income from operations .............................................................
(112)
Net (loss) income ................................................................................
(110)
Basic net (loss) income per share..........................................................
(0.05)
Diluted net (loss) income per share.......................................................
(0.05)

1,931 $ 1,847 $ 1,915
1,446
1,331
1,352
159
92
22
160
92
20
0.07
0.04
0.01
0.07
0.04
0.01

12. Segment Information
The Company operates in one business segment: the eClinical solutions business.
Enterprise-Wide Disclosures
Geographic Information
The Company operates in the United States.
Major Customers
The following sets forth the percentage of revenue generated by customers who accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s
revenue during each of the periods presented:
Customer

Client A .......................................................................................................................
Client B .......................................................................................................................
Client C .......................................................................................................................
*
Less than 10% of revenue.

Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

16%
12%
11%

17%
11%
15%

17%
11%
*

The accounts receivable balance with major customers as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was $151,000 and
$254,000, respectively.
13. Contingencies
On November 10, 2015, Datatrak postponed the annual shareholder meeting scheduled for November 11, 2015 and under the
direction of the previous Board initiated a lawsuit against Alex Tabatabai and Arosa Investment Management, LLC (collectively,
“Arosa”). (See Case No. CV-15-854059, Cuyahoga County, Ohio Common Pleas Court.) Datatrak asserted various claims in
connection with Arosa’s proxy contest involving three seats on the Datatrak Board of Directors. On November 25, 2015, Arosa
asserted counterclaims and individual and shareholder derivative third-party claims against Datatrak and five then Datatrak directors,
Laurence P. Birch, Timothy G. Biro, James M. Karis, Jerome H. Kaiser and Nicholas A. Loiacono, as well as Andrew T. Pitler, who
Arosa claimed was unlawfully appointed to Datatrak’s board, and direct claims against Datatrak and Mr. Birch. Arosa asserted various
claims of unlawfully delaying the Board of Directors election that Arosa’s slate of director candidates had won going into the
scheduled November 11, 2015 annual shareholder meeting.
On January 8, 2016, the 2015 Datatrak annual shareholders’ meeting was held following two postponements, and Arosa’s slate
prevailed by receiving approximately 62% of shareholder votes cast. Following the election, Arosa, Tabatabai, Datatrak, Biro, Karis,
Kaiser, Loiacono, and Pitler (collectively, the “Settling Parties”) commenced settlement discussions in an effort to avoid additional
litigation expenses. As a result of these discussions, Kaiser, Karis, and Pitler agreed to resign from Datatrak’s Board of Directors and
Arosa agreed to a mutual release and dismissal with prejudice of all claims among the Settling Parties. None of the Settling Parties
made any payment as part of the settlement.
On March 4, 2016, the Court granted a preliminary order to approve the proposed settlement agreement. The preliminary order
required the parties to provide notice of the proposed settlement agreement to all Datatrak shareholders, and provide shareholders with
time to object. The Court received two objections. One was from a shareholder and the other was from Mr. Birch, who was
terminated as CEO on February 23, 2016. On March 16, 2016, Birch filed a fourth-party complaint against Datatrak, alleging a breach
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of contract claim against Datatrak related to his employment agreement. On March 25, 2016, Birch amended his fourth-party
complaint to add an indemnification claim against Datatrak. On April 22, 2016, Datatrak responded to Birch’s fourth-party complaint,
denying the allegations asserted against it, and asserting a counterclaim against Birch, alleging claims for declaratory judgment, fraud,
unjust enrichment, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, and a claim under the
faithless servant doctrine that Birch breached the implied condition of employment that he would carry out his duties in good faith and
not act to the detriment of Datatrak. On June 30, 2016, the Court issued an order requiring the settling parties to submit a revised
notice of the proposed settlement for the Court’s consideration to clarify that the claims by and against Birch would not be covered by
the proposed settlement, the impact of the proposed settlement regarding the released directors, and the parties’ positions with regard
to indemnification. On August 15, 2016, the settling parties submitted the revised proposed notice. The Court then directed the
parties to consider whether mediation may assist the parties in reaching a global resolution of all claims in the dispute. The parties
subsequently participated in a mediation and finalized a proposed global resolution of the issues not addressed by the initial proposed
settlement, and submitted this proposed global resolution of the dispute to the Court for preliminary approval. It was preliminarily
approved by the Court on April 5, 2017, and the parties provided notice of the proposed global settlement to Datatrak’s shareholders
in the manner determined by the Court that same day. The deadline for shareholders to object to the proposed global settlement was
May 5, 2017. The proposed global resolution involved a payment by Datatrak to Birch of $260,000, which partially represented an
exchange for Birch's return to Datatrak of 19,438 shares of Datatrak restricted stock at a price of $4/share (or $77,752). The
settlement was approved by the Court on May 18, 2017, and the case was dismissed, with prejudice, on May 23, 2017.
On May 27, 2016, former CFO Jennifer Mabe and former VP Legal Varnesh Sritharan filed a lawsuit against Datatrak in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Case No. 1:16 CV 01286, alleging claims for breach of contract related
to their employment agreements, retaliation in violation of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, defamation and wrongful termination in violation
of public policy. On August 24, 2016, Datatrak filed a motion to dismiss the retaliation in violation of the Sarbanes Oxley Act,
defamation and wrongful termination in violation of public policy claims; filed an answer denying the substance of the remaining
claims; and filed a counterclaim against Ms. Mabe and Mr. Sritharan, alleging claims for declaratory judgment, breach of the implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, and a claim under the faithless servant doctrine that they breached
the implied condition of employment that they would carry out their duties in good faith and not act to the detriment of Datatrak. On
September 13, 2016, Ms. Mabe and Mr. Sritharan filed a first amended complaint. On September 27, 2016, Datatrak filed a motion to
dismiss, answer, and counterclaim in response to the first amended complaint. On October 31, 2016, Ms. Mabe and Mr. Sritharan
opposed the motion to dismiss and, on November 8, 2016, filed their answer to the counterclaim, denying the allegations asserted
against them. On February 27, 2017, the Court denied Datatrak’s motion to dismiss. On February 28, 2017, Datatrak filed an answer
to the claims that were the subject of the motion to dismiss. On April 6, 2018, a Confidential Settlement Agreement and General
Release was entered into by Datatrak, former CFO Jennifer Mabe and former VP Legal Varnesh Sritharan. The parties dismissed all
claims with prejudice. Datatrak contributed $40,000 to the total settlement.
In addition to the foregoing, in the ordinary course of business, the Company is involved in ordinary, routine legal proceedings.
Additionally, certain of the Company’s revenues may be subject to sales and use tax in certain jurisdictions and the Company may be
subject to penalties relating to terms of use of owned licenses. The Company has assessed its positions and is of the opinion that the
ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the results of operations, cash flows or the financial
position of the Company.
14. Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements
As discussed in Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, the Company revised certain prior period financial
statements for an immaterial error related to the recorded cost of issuances from treasury stock. A summary of revisions to the
Company’s previously reported financial statements presented herein for comparative purposes is included below.
Revised Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2018
As Reported Adjustment As Revised
86,952,655 (18,008,202)
68,944,453
(18,601,506) 18,008,202
(593,304)
(67,846,315)
(67,846,315)
504,834
504,834

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Common Shares/Additional paid in capital
Treasury Shares
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
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Revised Consolidated Statement of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Common Shares/Additional paid in capital, stated amount at January
1, 2017
Treasury Shares, cost at January 1, 2017
Total shareholders’ deficit at January 1, 2017
Employee Stock Purchase Plan adjustment to additional paid in
capital for the year ended December 31, 2017
Employee Stock Purchase Plan adjustment to cost of treasury shares
for the year ended December 31, 2017
Common Shares/Additional paid in capital, stated amount at
December 31, 2017
Treasury Shares, cost at December 31, 2017
Total shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2017
Employee Stock Purchase Plan adjustment to additional paid in
capital for the year ended December 31, 2018
Employee Stock Purchase Plan adjustment to cost of treasury shares
for the year ended December 31, 2018
Common Shares/Additional paid in capital, stated amount at
December 31, 2018
Treasury Shares, cost at December 31, 2018
Total shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2018

Adjustment As Revised

As Reported

84,723,628 (17,506,729) 67,216,899
(18,496,810) 17,506,729
(990,081)
(1,998,168)
- (1,998,168)
-

(189,781)

(189,781)

19,829

189,781

209,610

86,722,665 (17,696,510) 69,026,155
(18,628,014) 17,696,510
(931,504)
86,761
86,761
-

(311,692)

(311,692)

22,531

311,692

334,223

86,952,655 (18,008,202) 68,944,453
(18,601,506) 18,008,202
(593,304)
504,834
504,834

15. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
5)

Issuer’s Business, Products and Services
(All numbers in this section have been rounded to the nearest thousand for discussion purposes)
A. Description of the Issuer’s Business Operations

Datatrak is a leading technology and services company delivering global eClinical solutions for the clinical trials industry. The
Company’s services support clients in the clinical pharmaceutical, biotechnology, contract research organization (“CRO”), academic
research organizations (“ARO”) and medical device research industries in accelerating the completion of clinical trials more
efficiently and safely by providing improved data quality and real time access to information on a global scale.
Datatrak pursues the innovation of eClinical Solutions, seeking to empower users with insight-driven clinical trial outcomes within
the Life Sciences industry. Offering a unified Enterprise Cloud solution, Datatrak seeks to deliver operational efficiencies that
improve workflow, reduce error, eliminate redundancy, and provide meaningful insight and analysis through actionable data – all
while driving down the costs of clinical trial operation.
Datatrak believes it is uniquely positioned in the market with industry leading architecture that leverages the power of a single
database, removing complexities in integration and friction points with disparate data. Datatrak believes that it also provides an
industry leading user experience, originating from an easy-to-use, intuitive interface, that supports pre-clinical and Phase I - Phase IV
drug and device studies, in multiple languages – no matter the complexity.
Directed towards companies in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, CRO, ARO and medical device industries, the cloud-based
Software as a Service (SaaS) solution is deployed world-wide, eliminates the need for customers to invest in expensive hardware or
software, and is routinely maintained or upgraded with automatic platform enhancements.
Datatrak’s vision is to continue to build and own a multilingual and multi-tenant enterprise platform with unified access to clinical
applications, database and workflows to ensure scalable and operational efficiency, while eliminating the need for back-end
integration which is the cause of common friction points.
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Datatrak is committed to empowering workgroup teams with role-based access to version-controlled file management, calendar
events, tasks and contacts, all built within its eClinical applications including Business Intelligence, Clinical Trial Management
System (“CTMS”), Trial Design, Electronic Data Capture (“EDC”), Medical Coding, Risk-Based Monitoring, Electrocardiogram
(“ECG”) Data Capture, Image Data Capture, Endpoint Adjudication, Randomization, Clinical Supply Inventory, Electronic Consent
(“eConsent”), Electronic Patient Reported Outcomes (“ePRO”), and Electronic Clinical Outcomes Assessment (“eCOA”).
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 24, 2020, the date its consolidated financial statements were
available to be issued. The Company has not to date seen any meaningful impact on its business from the recent COVID-19 outbreak.
While the Company’s customers, or value resellers, may be located or have clients in affected areas, the Company is not currently
aware of any disruption to trials or contracts. Datatrak’s employees are all able to work remotely in the event of quarantine, so the
Company expects to continue to deliver services according to terms of its contracts. As this is a developing situation, the Company
cannot provide any assurance that the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak will not have an adverse effect on its business.
Financial Performance
The Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased $296,000 to $7,743,000 compared to $7,447,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2018. While revenue from new contract sales decreased $51,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, revenue from contracts in the prior year-end backlog increased $347,000 for the same
comparative time period. Direct costs increased $149,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018 due to new employees hired in the third quarter of 2018 and an increase in amortization related to software
development efforts that have been placed into production. The Company’s gross margin was 72% for the year ended December 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018. SG&A expenses decreased by $67,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in SG&A expenses was driven by lower employee expenses, due to open positions and
higher software capitalization, legal costs and equipment and maintenance costs. However, consulting and director fees did increase
for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. Depreciation and amortization was $19,000
for both the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. As a result of the items discussed, Datatrak had income from operations of
$374,000 and $161,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. After other income of $13,000 for the year
December 31, 2019 and $1,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s net income for the year ended December 31,
2019 was $387,000 compared to $162,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Backlog
Backlog consists of future value from authorization letters to commence services, statements of work, technology and services
agreements, change orders and other customer contracts, billed and unbilled. At December 31, 2019, the Company’s backlog
decreased by 13%, to $13,283,000 from $15,295,000 at December 31, 2018. The backlog decrease occurred in the fourth quarter of
2019 due to contract amendments.
All contracts are subject to possible delays or cancellation or can change in scope in a positive or negative direction.
Approximately 72% of the Company’s December 31, 2019 backlog is subject to being cancelled or delayed at any time. Therefore,
current backlog is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s future quarterly or annual revenue. Historically, backlog has not always
been an accurate predictor of the Company’s short-term revenue.
Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared with the year ended December 31, 2018
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 increased by $296,000 to $7,743,000 as compared to $7,447,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, Datatrak recorded revenue related to 116 contracts compared
to 114 contracts during the year ended December 31, 2018. For the year ended December 31, 2019, $6,792,000 of revenue was the
result of contracts that were in backlog at December 31, 2018 and $951,000 was the result of new business signed since January 1,
2019. For the year ended December 31, 2018, $6,445,000 of revenue was generated from contracts that were in backlog at December
31, 2017 and $1,002,000 was the result of new business signed since January 1, 2018.
The Company recorded $4,808,000 in revenue during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $4,292,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2018 from significant multi-year enterprise license agreements. The Company will continue to recognize the
remaining, non-refundable, aggregate deferred revenue on the enterprise license agreements ratably, or in line with the acceleration of
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points contained in the license agreement, over the remaining lives of each respective license period. The active enterprise license
agreements totaled $29 million of original contract value as of December 31, 2019.
Direct costs of revenue increased $149,000 from $2,056,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, to $2,205,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2019 due to higher employee costs due to new employees hired in the third quarter of 2018 and an increase in
amortization related to software development efforts that have been placed into production. These increases were partially offset by
higher software development capitalization. The Company’s gross margin was 72% for both the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018.
SG&A expenses include all administrative personnel costs, sales and software development costs, stock compensation and all
other expenses not directly chargeable to a specific contract. SG&A expenses decreased by $67,000, or 1%, to $5,145,000 from
$5,212,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The majority of the decrease was driven by lower
employee expenses, due to open positions and higher software capitalization, legal costs and equipment and maintenance costs.
However, consulting and director fees did increase for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31,
2018.
Depreciation and amortization was $19,000 for both the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
As a result of the items discussed, Datatrak had income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $374,000
compared to $161,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. After other income of $13,000 for the year December 31, 2019 and
$1,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $387,000
compared to $162,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Non-cash charges were $1,196,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $837,000 for the year ended December 31,
2018. The increase in non-cash charges was due to an increase in depreciation and amortization and the amortization of operating
right-of-use assets recorded in connection with the adoption of ASU 2016-02, “Leases”, which was partially offset by a decrease in
stock compensation.
Year ended December 31, 2018 compared with the year ended December 31, 2017
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 decreased by $77,000 to $7,447,000 as compared to $7,524,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2017. During the year ended December 31, 2018, Datatrak recorded revenue related to 114 contracts compared to 130
contracts during the year ended December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, $6,445,000 of revenue was the result of
contracts that were in backlog at December 31, 2017 and $1,002,000 was the result of new business signed since January 1, 2018. For
the year ended December 31, 2017, $6,974,000 of revenue was generated from contracts that were in backlog at December 31, 2016
and $550,000 was the result of new business signed since January 1, 2017.
The Company recorded $4,292,000 in revenue during the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $3,951,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2017 from significant multi-year enterprise license agreements. The Company will continue to recognize the
remaining, non-refundable, aggregate deferred revenue on the enterprise license agreements ratably, or in line with the acceleration of
points contained in the license agreement, over the remaining lives of each respective license period. The active enterprise license
agreements totaled $24 million of original contract value as of December 31, 2018.
Direct costs of revenue increased $53,000 from $2,003,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017, to $2,056,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2018 due to slightly higher employee and ISP costs and an increase in amortization related to software
development efforts that have been placed into production. These increases were partially offset by lower clinical data management
costs. The Company’s gross margin was 72% for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 73% for the year ended December
31, 2017.
SG&A expenses include all administrative personnel costs, sales and software development costs, stock compensation and all
other expenses not directly chargeable to a specific contract. SG&A expenses decreased by $75,000, or 1%, to $5,212,000 from
$5,287,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The majority of the decrease was legal expenses as all
litigation was settled by the Company by April 2018 (See Note 13. Contingencies for further information). The Company also saw a
decrease in employee and consulting costs during the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.
However, travel expenses increased, due to executive and sales personnel travel, as well as director fees, office rent and maintenance
and licensing costs, for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Depreciation and amortization decreased $3,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018 to $19,000 compared to $22,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2017.
As a result of the items discussed, Datatrak had income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $161,000
compared to $212,000 for the year ended December 31, 2017. Interest expense decreased $127,000 for the year ended December 31,
2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 due to the settlement of the Note with Tabatabai Investment Partners LP as of
September 6, 2017. The Company’s net income for the full year of 2018 was $162,000 compared to $220,000 for the full year of
2017.
Non-cash charges were $837,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $875,000 for the year ended December 31,
2017. The decrease in non-cash charges was due to a decrease in stock compensation, which was partially offset by the increase in
depreciation and amortization. Stock compensation for the year ended December 31, 2017 included stock awards realized according
to terms of employment contracts.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s principal sources of cash are existing cash and cash flow from operations. Contracts with customers usually
require a portion of the contract amount to be paid at the time the contract is initiated. Additional payments are generally received
monthly as work on the contract progresses. The Company records all amounts received as a contract liability until work has been
completed and revenue is recognized. Cash receipts do not necessarily correspond to costs incurred or revenue recognized. Datatrak’s
primary cash needs are to fund normal working capital requirements.
On February 9, 2018, Datatrak entered into a convertible promissory note (the “2018 Note”) with Tabatabai Investment Partners
LP, a related party, which is controlled by Mr. Alex Tabatabai, Chairman of Datatrak’s Board of Directors. The 2018 Note provided
for draws when the Company’s cash balance was less than a minimum threshold, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors, up to
an aggregate maximum amount of $8,000,000. The 2018 Note carried an interest rate equal to the greater of thirteen percent per
annum or the Federal Reserve’s FOMC Rate plus eleven and a half percent, compounded monthly. The 2018 Note permitted the
repayment of draws and interest then outstanding on the maturity date into a number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock
obtained by dividing the amount of principal and interest by a per share price of $6.70. The maturity date of the 2018 Note was
February 29, 2020. Proceeds from the draws were required to be used to support the growth of the Company in areas such as business
and product development, marketing and customer service, web servers and other related capital expenditures, working capital and
general corporate purposes. There were no draws under the 2018 Note.
Cash Flow
A summary of operating, investing and financing cash flow activities are shown in the following table for the year ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 (rounded to the nearest thousand):
The Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
Cash Flow Summary:
Provided by operating activities
Used in investing activities
Used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash balance at beginning of year
Cash balance at end of year

$

$

2,423,000
(713,000)
(129,000)
1,581,000

$

$

460,000
(596,000)
(122,000)
(258,000)

$

2,575,000
4,156,000

$

2,833,000
2,575,000

The Company’s net cash flow from operations was $2,423,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $460,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2018. Changes in operating assets and liabilities of $1,378,000 positively impacted net cash flow from
operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to the change in
accounts receivable and contract liability offset by the change in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The change in contract
liability was driven by the renewal of an enterprise contract for which the Company received full payment upfront in the third quarter
of 2019 and an amendment for another enterprise contract for which payment was received in the fourth quarter of 2019. An increase
in net income of $225,000 also positively impacted the net cash flow provided by operations, along with a $360,000 increase in non-
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cash items, which includes depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation expense and unrealized loss/gain on marketable
securities, for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018.
The Company’s net cash flow used in investing activities was $(713,000) compared to $(596,000) for the year ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Capitalized software development costs increased by $(122,000), while purchases of property and
equipment decreased by $5,000 during the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the year ended December 31, 2018.
Net cash of $(129,000) was used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $(122,000) used during
the year ended December 31, 2018. Financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 included cash outlays of $(149,000)
for the repayment of capital lease related debt and notes payable, which were offset by cash inflows of $20,000 received in connection
with stock purchases under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. During the year ended December 31, 2018, $(145,000) was used for
the repayment of capital lease related debt and notes payable, which were offset by cash inflows of $23,000 received in connection
with stock purchases under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
As a result of the changes above, the cash balance, including restricted cash, at December 31, 2019 was $4,156,000 compared to
$2,575,000 at December 31, 2018.
Datatrak’s “days sales outstanding” was 39 days for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 40 days for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Trade accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $15,000) was $635,000 at December 31,
2019 and $838,000 at December 31, 2018.
Management believes Datatrak will have available funds in order to meet its short-term working capital requirements for at least
the next 12 months. At December 31, 2019, the Company had working capital of $1,408,000 compared to working capital of
$(571,000) as of December 31, 2018.
Datatrak continuously evaluates its cost structure to timely match its cost structure with anticipated revenue and backlog. Although
the Company has recently made strategic investments in its infrastructure in order to support longer-term growth, Datatrak will
continue to carefully evaluate its cost structure and implement cost cutting measures if its revenue and sales trend performance falls
below its minimum expectations. In such an event, Datatrak may also require additional funding. The Company may need to raise
additional funds to offset delays or cancellations of existing contracts, insufficient generation of new contracts, or to cover liquidity
needs beyond 2020. Datatrak may raise additional funds by selling debt or equity securities, by entering into strategic relationships or
through other arrangements. Additional capital may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. To the extent that additional equity
capital is raised, it could have a dilutive effect on the existing shareholders.
Inflation
To date, the Company believes the effects of inflation have not had a material adverse effect on its results of operations or
financial condition.
Information about Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements made in this annual report, written materials or orally by the Company or its representatives may constitute
forward-looking statements that are based on management’s current beliefs, estimates and assumptions concerning the operations,
future results and prospects of the Company and the clinical pharmaceutical research industry in general. All statements that address
operating performance, events or developments that management anticipates will occur in the future, including statements related to
future revenue, profits, expenses, cost reductions, cash management alternatives and working capital requirements, exploration of
strategic alternatives, raising additional funds, income and earnings per share or statements expressing general optimism about future
results, are forward-looking statements. In addition, words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“estimates,” variations of such words, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Factors that may
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include the ability of the Company to continue to
enhance its software products to meet customer and market needs; fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results; the viability of the
Company’s business strategy and its stage of development; the timing of clinical trial sponsor decisions to conduct new clinical trials
or cancel or delay ongoing trials; the Company’s dependence on major customers; government regulation associated with clinical
trials and the approval of new drugs; political climate and uncertainty surrounding the U.S. administration; the ability of the Company
to compete in the EDC market; losses that potentially could be incurred from breaches of contracts or loss of customer data; the
inability to protect intellectual property rights or prevent the infringement upon other’s intellectual property rights; the Company’s
ability to comply with and costs related to governmental regulation, legal requirements and industry standards concerning consumer
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privacy and data protection; any future litigation; the costs and damages to reputation associated with any data breaches, cyber-attacks
or other interference with the Company’s technological systems; the costs associated with maintaining and/or developing the Datatrak
Enterprise Cloud software suite; the Company’s ability to retain key employees; uncertain impact on customers and contracts as a
result of any economic downturns or of health pandemics or epidemics and other outbreaks, including COVID-19; access to financing
on acceptable terms or at all; and general economic conditions such as the rate of employment, inflation, interest rates and the
condition of capital markets. This list of factors is not all inclusive. In addition, the Company’s success depends on the outcome of
various strategic initiatives it has undertaken, all of which are based on assumptions made by the Company concerning trends in the
clinical research market and the health care industry. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such
statement is made and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update any statements whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.
B. Description of Issuer’s Subsidiaries, Parents, or Affiliated Company (if applicable)
Datatrak has three wholly-owned subsidiaries, Datatrak, Inc., CF Merger Sub, Inc. and DTRAK, Inc., which are inactive holding
companies with no employees and do not provide any services to the Company or its customers. The Company established a UK
entity to support the European sales activities during 2014. Datatrak Technologies Limited was a private limited company registered
in England and Wales under number 8870946, registered office: One New Change, London, EC4M 9AF, England. An application to
remove the registration for Datatrak Technologies Limited was submitted to the Companies House and Datatrak Technologies Limited
was removed from the registry on January 8, 2019.
The Company’s officers, directors, managers and control persons can be contacted at the corporate headquarters located at 5900
Landerbrook Dr., Suite 170, Mayfield Heights, OH 44124, by calling (440) 443-0082 or emailing investor@datatrak.com.
C. Description of Issuer’s Principal Products or Services, and Their Markets
The Company’s products were originally developed with the goal of providing data to sponsors of clinical research trials faster and
more efficiently than other competing systems, including paper-based solutions. Automating data entry and review procedures under a
single architecture can save time in the drug development and medical device approval process, and possibly result in enhanced
patient safety. The Datatrak Enterprise Cloud consists of numerous modules designed for configurability to each clinical research
process. The Company provides a multilingual and multi-tenant enterprise platform with access to multiple clinical applications,
databases and workflows which the Company believes provides scalability and operational efficiencies, while eliminating the need for
back-end integration which is the cause of most friction points. Datatrak’s Enterprise Cloud facilitates virtual teams to execute and
manage clinical trials across the larger research and development enterprise for data driven insights into product key performance
indicators and predictive metrics and benchmarks.
The Datatrak Enterprise Cloud includes the following products: Business Intelligence, CTMS, Trial Design, EDC, Medical
Coding, Risk-Based Monitoring, ECG Data Capture, Image Data Capture, Endpoint Adjudication, Randomization, Clinical Supply
Inventory, eConsent, ePRO, and eCOA. Business Intelligence, eConsent, ePRO and eCOA are new products under development that
are expected to be released in 2020.
Datatrak’s CTMS solution leverages cross solution functionality in reporting and analysis. The Company believes its CTMS
solution will transform how the industry measures return on investment (“ROI”) on software purchases, opening the door for an
increase in multi-solution purchases by current and potential clients. Datatrak’s CTMS can be leveraged with any EDC platform,
enabling clients to take control of their clinical data. The Company’s modern enterprise trial management system offers a flexible,
cloud-based, SaaS solution that should eliminate the need for a lengthy, complex implementation process, and costly hardware or
software expenses. Clients can connect CTMS seamlessly with Datatrak’s EDC, or utilize powerful API’s that give them the ability to
connect CTMS with outside programs or processes, allowing clients to achieve unified data. To reduce redundant data entry,
Datatrak’s Imports Manager allows patients, personnel, products, site, vendor and deviation data to be imported directly into CTMS.
Datatrak EDC and Medical Coding provides higher quality data faster utilizing user-friendly and powerful tools. With control in
an easy-to-use interface, EDC and Medical Coding supports the specific data needs of each trial, providing detailed insight to the
status of the trial. Most importantly, Datatrak’s platform is easily scaled and adapted to match any protocol for drug, device and
diagnostic studies. API functionality allows the ability to connect EDC with outside programs or processes for maximum trial
optimization. Datatrak features powerful and innovative reporting capabilities, allowing study team members to easily access, filter
and export real-time study data into clear and concise reports, whenever they are needed. Users can run standard and ad-hoc reports,
and export the information they want, as needed. Additionally, data and metadata listings can be created by filtering through the
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managers. Unique to the Datatrak solution is the ability to be linked from the report, directly to the eCRF, enabling study team
members to access the source of the data with a single click.
Datatrak seeks to help clients maximize the benefits of their Risk-Based Monitoring strategy by utilizing out-of-the-box
functionality for source data verification, Data Review and eSignature. Datatrak’s EDC and CTMS can generate key risk indicators,
key performance indicators and sponsor defined metrics for every step of clinical trial workflow, customizable to align with their
specific processes and resource needs. This functionality allows the creation, implementation, and monitoring of both static and
dynamic plans in real-time. These metrics are supported with dashboards that provide study health, recruitment, monitoring, data
cleanliness status and reports.
Medical Imaging and its embedded data play a pivotal role in new protocol development. The Company believes this is becoming
a critical source of big data and the demand for analytics for better decision making. Datatrak’s Medical Imaging Capture allows for
the analysis and annotation of image data, including the versioned images, processed into Datatrak’s EDC platform. Whether clients
are utilizing CORE lab services, or conducting internal scientific research, Datatrak can enhance their information needs with
Datatrak’s enterprise platform. Datatrak’s system provides the ability to remotely capture any image based on the DICOM (Digital
Imaging and Communications in Medicine) standard. Working with the specifications from the protocol, targeted bio-markers and
measures are identified and captured, including the initial image. The client-specified information is automatically displayed into the
appropriate clinical trial eCRF with the necessary edit checks and notifications automatically triggering based on the specifications of
the study. Based on client roles and permissions, internal and third parties have the ability to analyze and annotate the image, creating
derivative files to be uploaded back into the system, which will display new image information to the eCRF. This allows image reader
adjudication to be completed within a centralized EDC system using intelligent workflows to manage the reader adjudication process
while keeping the blinding and permission restrictions. Whether the adjudication process is simple or complex, these tools have the
flexibility to address specific needs.
Datatrak’s Randomization and Trial Supply Management (“RTSM”) supports all types of protocol requirements while dispensing,
controlling and automating drug supply fulfillment. The robust Manager tool lets users view, filter, update and export information on
drug containers, drug assignments, shipments and randomization schedules on demand. While Datatrak’s randomization gives clients
the control to leverage blinded and unblinded roles, it also allows them to control the visibility of their events.
Datatrak’s Trial Design streamlines the entire design-to-deployment process using a single tool. Trial Designers can configure their
studies using a Visual or Data Architect in several solutions of the Datatrak Cloud, including EDC and RTSM. Designs and changes
can be immediately viewed in the Trial Design environment before committing the files into the versioning repository. As the study
continues through the deployment process, Trial Design offers a Test environment and tracks user acceptance testing within an
approval environment. After completion of all quality assurance activities, the study can be transferred to production for deployment
of the clinical trial. Mid-study changes are simplified using Datatrak’s system, which allows new versions to be deployed to live trials
with no downtime.
Datatrak’s Training enables clients to manage instructions for users in a compliant environment. Training gives clients access to
Datatrak’s standard web-based training courses, or Datatrak can develop a unique curriculum to meet the needs of the study team. All
courses can be run through Datatrak’s learning management system to give users seamless access to learning content.
Further expanding on patient engagement, Datatrak Direct uses an iOS or Android app to capture data directly from patients
(ePRO, eCOA or eConsent) using their own mobile devices. This means patients will be free to use any device be it a phone, PC, or
tablet that they find most convenient. All patient-entered data is instantaneously stored on the Datatrak Enterprise Cloud. Datatrak’s
unified platform allows users to enforce and track compliance with flexible form design for ePRO, eCOA, and eConsent data.
Bringing all data collection under the umbrella of a single enterprise platform would allow clients to leverage Business Intelligence
utilities available in EDC and CTMS to gain better oversight and more actionable insight into their data.
Datatrak built its multi-component, cloud-based solution through a single, unified clinical research platform leveraging a single
database architecture and expanded this concept to include services delivery from the Datatrak Clinical and Consulting Services
(“DCCS”) group. The Company delivers a complete portfolio of software products designed to accelerate the reporting of clinical
research data from sites to sponsors and ultimately regulatory authorities more efficiently than loosely integrated technologies. The
Datatrak Enterprise Cloud unified software solution, deployed worldwide through its cloud offering, supports pre-clinical and Phase I
– Phase IV drug and device studies in multiple languages throughout the world.
Datatrak Clinical and Consulting Services, or DCCS, offers support to our clients in Pre-clinical, Device and Phase I – Phase IV
trials. Starting with the final protocol, DCCS can conduct most clinical data management services from study start-up through study
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close-out. The Datatrak Project Management team tracks study deliverables, including interim data transfers if required by the client,
or data cuts, data locks and ad-hoc requests. As the study comes to a close, DCCS assists in the finalization or ”locking” of the
database and performs the study data archival. In addition to clinical trial-specific services, DCCS also offers clinical and technology
consulting as well as rescue study and migration expertise.
Datatrak has partner and enterprise transfer programs to enable customers to design, deploy and manage their clinical trials
independently through the Company’s cloud-based delivery. Datatrak has found that customers desire to be as independent as possible
in the performance of their clinical trials. This trend is another growth aspect of the industry that is believed to be gaining momentum.
6)

Issuer’s Facilities

As of December 31, 2019, the Company was leasing approximately 6,400 square feet of office space in Mayfield Heights, Ohio.
This space is used for the Company’s headquarters and U.S. operations. In addition, Datatrak has U.S. based operations in College
Station, Texas, where the Company leases approximately 2,200 square feet of office space. The Company entered into a sublease
agreement as of July 7, 2016 for the 14,000 square feet of office space in Chicago, Illinois, in order to mitigate the expense associated
with the original lease. For additional information regarding the leases, see Note 7. Leases to the consolidated financial statements
included in this report.
7)

Officers, Directors, and Control Persons
The names of Officers, Directors and 5% and greater shareholders as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Name of
Officer/Director or
Control Person

Affiliation with
Company (e.g.
Officer/Director/Owner
of more than 5%)

Residential Address
(City / State Only)

Number of
shares owned

Alex Tabatabai

Chairman of the
Board of Directors,
Chairman of the
Audit Committee;
greater than 5%
shareholder

Hershey, PA

830,930

Common

35.2%

Col. Jack H.
Jacobs

Director, Chairman
of the Compensation
Committee,
Chairman of the
Nominating &
Governance
Committee

Far Hills, NJ

20,338

Common

0.9%

Dr. Eric J.
Wilhelm

Director

Oakland, CA

16,430

Common

0.7%
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type/class

Ownership
Percentage of
Class
Outstanding

Note

Beneficially held
by Tabatabai
Investment
Management LLC,
of which Alex
Tabatabai is a
managing member.
Tabatabai
Investment
Management LLC
is a general partner
of Tabatabai
Investment
Partners LP
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Pasadena, CA
34,771
Common

Dr. Rizvan A.
Mirza

Director

1.5%

Dr. Behnam
Tababatai

Director

Hummelstown, PA

17,396

Common

0.7%

James R. Ward

CEO, President and
Director

College Station, TX

79,279

Common

3.4%

Julia Henderson

CFO and Treasurer

Macedonia, OH

15,664

Common

0.7%

Ralph E. &
Sandra J.
Mongeon JT
Tenant

Greater than 5%
Shareholder

Fort Myers, FL

182,500

Common

7.7%

During 2019, Dr.
Mirza purchased
6,275 additional
shares on the open
market.

The table below sets forth information regarding the compensation received during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
and the securities held at each year then ended for the current executives and directors.
Name and
Principal
Position
Alex
Tabatabai,
Chairman of
the Board
Col. Jack H.
Jacobs,
Director
Dr. Eric J.
Wilhelm,
Director
Dr. Rizvan A.
Mirza,
Director
Dr. Behnam
Tabatabai,
Director
James R.
Ward,
CEO,
President and
Director
Julia
Henderson,
Chief
Financial
Officer and
Treasurer

Common
Shares
Owned
830,930 ¹
830,930 ¹

Common
Share
Options
—
—

Year
2019
2018

Salary
—
—

Bonus
—
—

All Other
Compensation
$240,000 ²
$173,247 ²

2019
2018

—
—

—
—

$46,000 ²
$46,000 ²

20,338
13,912

—
—

2019
2018

—
—

—
—

$36,000 ²
$36,000 ²

16,430
11,400

—
—

2019
2018

—
—

—
—

$36,000 ²
$36,000 ²

34,771
21,310

—
—

2019
2018

—
—

—
—

$36,000 ²
$36,000 ²

17,396
10,210

—
—

2019
2018

$235,385
$220,000

—
—

—
—

79,279
79,279

—
—

2019
2018

$146,923
$140,000

—
—

—
—

15,664
14,821

500
500
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¹ Mr. Alex Tabatabai’s shares listed in the table are beneficially owned by Tabatabai Investment Management LLC, of which he
is a managing member.
² Other compensation includes director compensation paid in cash and/or Common Shares. The total compensation shown
includes both cash and restricted Common Shares valued based on the closing stock price on the last day of the quarter. Director
compensation for fourth quarter of 2019 was not paid as of December 31, 2019, and therefore, is not included in this table.
However, director compensation for fourth quarter of 2017 and 2018 was paid during the year ended December 31, 2018 and
2019, respectively, and is included in the table.
To the Company’s knowledge, the following persons are control persons as they beneficially owned 5% or more of Datatrak stock
as of December 31, 2019:
Tabatabai Investment
Management LLC (f/k/a Arosa
Investment Management LLC)¹ ²
Ralph E. & Sandra J. Mongeon
JT Tenant

c/o Derek Bork
Thompson Hine LLP
3900 Key Center, 127 Public Square
Cleveland, OH 44114
1807 N. Fort Myers
Fort Myers, FL 33903

830,930 Common Shares
182,500 Common Shares

¹ Tabatabai Investment Management LLC is controlled by Alex Tabatabai, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company.
² All Common Shares are beneficially held by Tabatabai Investment Management LLC (formerly known as Arosa Investment
Management LLC), which is controlled by Mr. Alex Tabatabai, Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. Tabatabai
Investment Management LLC is the general partner of Tabatabai Investment Partners LP.
The disclosure is limited to those whose holdings the Company knows or can verify.
8)

Legal/Disciplinary History

A. Please identify whether any of the persons listed above have, in the past 10 years, been the subject of:
1.

A conviction in a criminal proceeding or named as a defendant in a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic
violations and other minor offenses);

None
2.

The entry of an order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, by a court of competent
jurisdiction that permanently or temporarily enjoined, barred, suspended or otherwise limited such person’s involvement
in any type of business, securities, commodities, or banking activities;

None
3.

A finding or judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, or a state securities regulator of a violation of federal or state securities or
commodities law, which finding or judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated; or

None
4.

The entry of an order by a self-regulatory organization that permanently or temporarily barred, suspended, or otherwise
limited such person’s involvement in any type of business or securities activities.

None
The Company has no information regarding beneficial holders of more than 5% of its common stock other than Mr. Alex
Tabatabai and Tabatabai Investment Management LLC.
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B. Datatrak has no current pending legal proceedings. The Company may from time to time be involved in ordinary, routine legal
proceedings incidental to the business.
9)

Third Party Providers
Please provide the name, address, telephone number and email address of each of the following outside providers:

Securities Counsel
Name:
Firm:
Address 1:
Address 2:
Phone:
Email:

Derek Bork
Thompson Hine LLP
3900 Key Center, 127 Public Square
Cleveland, OH 44114
(216) 566-5500
Derek.Bork@ThompsonHine.com

Accountant or Auditor
Name:
Firm:
Address 1:
Address 2:
Phone:
Email:

Ryan Siebel
Marcum LLP
6685 Beta Drive
Mayfield Village, OH 44143
(440) 449-6800
Ryan.Siebel@marcumllp.com

Investor Relations
None.
Other Service Providers
Provide the name of any other service provider(s) that assisted, advised, prepared or provided information with respect to this
disclosure statement, or provided assistance or services to the issuer during the reporting period.
Name:
Firm:
Nature of Services:
Address 1:
Address 2:
Phone:
Email:

David DiCillo
DiCillo & Associates
Tax Advisory and Preparation
7500 Town Centre Dr., Suite 500
Broadview Heights, OH 44147
(216) 377-1950
ddicillo@greatlakescpa.net

Name:
Firm:
Nature of Services:
Address 1:
Address 2:
Phone:
Email:

Dan McMullen
Calfee Halter & Griswold LLP
Legal Counsel for Patents and Trademarks
The Calfee Building 1405 East Sixth St.
Cleveland, OH 44114
(216) 622-8200
dmcmullen@calfee.com
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10)

Issuer Certification

Principal Executive Officer
I, James R. Ward, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual disclosure statement of Datatrak International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this disclosure statement does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this disclosure statement; and
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included or incorporated by reference in
this disclosure statement, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this disclosure statement.
March 24, 2020
/s/ James R. Ward
James R. Ward
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10)

Issuer Certification (continued)

Principal Financial Officer
I, Julia Henderson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual disclosure statement of Datatrak International, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this disclosure statement does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this disclosure statement; and
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included or incorporated by reference in
this disclosure statement, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the issuer as of, and for, the periods presented in this disclosure statement.
March 24, 2020
/s/ Julia Henderson
Julia Henderson
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